












About the Editor 

Edited by Willard B. Pope (1903-1988), a 
native of Detroit, who went to the University 
of Vermont in 1942 and served as chairman of 

the English department before retiring in 1968. 
He edited the three-volume work The Diary of 
Benjamin Robert Haydon 1808-1824. Dr. Pope 
received his undergraduate degree from Hamilton 
College and his doctorate from Harvard Univer­
sity in 1932. 

This article has been condensed from the original publication in North Dakota History, Vol. 50.2:12-22 (1983). 

Dedication: To [my daughter] Laura [Wales Beebe]. Most patient of 
listeners, kindest of critics and skillful copyist of these old stories. I 
must add-loveliest of companions at all times. We both hope they 
may hold some interest "A.M." 

1. Martha Gray Wales was the widow of George Worcester Wales. 
Born at Louisville, Kentucky, on August 17, 1864, she was the 
daughter of Major Charles Carroll Gray (1838-1884), US.
Medical Corps, and Laura Bissell Gray (1841-1908). Mrs. Wales 
died at Burlington, Vermont, on August 7, 1946. Widowed 
before she was twenty-five, Mrs. Wales had two children. Willard 
Ryan Pope (6. 1941), is the son of the editor. 

2. William Henry Augustus Bissell (1814-1893) served as Episcopal 
bishop of Vermont from 1868 until his death; the others 
mentioned here are descendants. Aunt Laura, Bissell's daughter, 
married Charles Gray. "Gamma" was Fanny Shaw Pope 
(1875-1961) and "Bobby" was Willard Pope (1867-1949) his 
sister, Aunt Polly, was Pauline Pope Miller (1864-1934). Uncle 
Harry was Henry Bigelow Shaw (1873-1936), a brother of Fanny 
Shaw Pope. 

3. George Frances Will (1884-1955) served as president of the State 
Hisrorical Society of North Dakota from 1942 until his death. 
A prominent scholar, he translated Philippe de Trobriand's Vie
Miltaire dans le Dakota, Notes et Souvenirs, 1867-1869; it was 
excerpted and edited by Milo M. Quaife and published as Army 
lift in Dakota (Chicago: Lakeside Press, 1941). For data about 
Will, see Harlow Leslie Waister, "George Francis Will, 1884-
1955: Archaeologist, Anthropologist, Ethnologist, Naturalist, 
Nurseryman, Seedsman, Historian," North Dakota History, 23-1 
Qanuary, 1956), pp. 5-25. 

4. Published in New York in 1942, the novel is based upon a diary 
and recounts the experiences of a young army wife on the frontier 
in 1867; see also note 3. 

5. TheTerritory ofDakota was organized in 1861; in 1889, it was 
divided into two states, North Dakota and South Dakota. See 
Howard Roberts Lamar, Dakota Territory, 1861-1889: A Study of 
Frontier Politics (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1956). 

6. Fort Buford was located on the Missouri near the present 
Montana line and the mouth of the Yellowstone River. Named 
for General John Buford, a Civil War hero, the fort was 
established in June, 1866, and existed until 1895. See Ben Innis, 
editor, "The Fort Buford Diary of Pvt. Sanford," North Dakota 
History, 33-4 (Fall, 1966), pp. 334-378. 

7. 

8. 

Fort Stevenson, named for Brigadier General Thomas G. 
Stevenson, was maintained on the north (east) bank of the 
Missouri River near the mouth of Douglas Creek from 1867-
1883. See Ray H. Matison, "Old Fort Stevenson: A Typical 
Missouri River Military Post," North Dakota History, 18-2/3 
(April-July, 1951 ), pp. 53-91. 

Bartholomew Berthold established this post as a fur trade outlet 
in 1845; it was utilized by the army from 1865-1867 and 
replaced by Fort Stevenson. See Adrian R. Dunn, "A Hisrory of 
Old Fort Berthold," North Dakota History, 30.4 (Ocrober, 1963), 
pp. 156-240. 
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9. Washington Matthews (1843-1905) was an army surgeon who 
studied the Hidatsa and Navaho, writing books and articles about 
their languages and legends, including Ethnography and Philology 
of the Hidatsa Jndians (1877). 

10. Famed Arikara chiefWhite Shield proved a steadfast defender of 
tribal rights, once being removed as a chief by an Indian agent 
after refusing to accept deficient annuities. See Roy W Meyes, 
Village lndians of the Upper Missouri: The Mandans, Hidatsas, 
andArikaras (Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press, 1977), pp. 
121-122. 

11. Geneva Medical College was a branch of Hobart College created 
in 1827; though closed from 1830-1835, the school existed 
until 1872. The faculty then allied itself with Syrcuse University, 
created in 1870. 

12. This first major battle of the Civil War was fought thirty miles 
southwest of Washington on July 21, 1861; Union forces suffered 
an important defeat. 

13. See Quaife, editor, Army lift in Dakota, p. 35. Also see Lucille 
M. Kane, editor and translator, Military lift in Dakota: The 
journal of Phillipe Regis de Trobriand (St. Paul: Alvord Memorial 
Commission, 1951 ). 

14. Fort Sully was first established in 1863; three years later, a second 
post replaced the first, but at a location some thirty miles upriver 
and now near the city of Pierre, South Dakota. The second Fort 
Pierre existed until 1897. See Joseph H. Drips, Three Years Among 
the Indians in Dakota (New York: Sol Lewis, ed., 1974); also 
see Langdon Sully, No Tears for the General: The Lift of Alfred 
Sully, 1821-1879 (Palo Alto, CA: American West Publishing 
Company, 1974). 

15. Colonel Joseph N.G. Whistler graduated from West Point in 
1846 and served until 1886; he died in 1899. See Quaife,Army 
Lift in Dakota, p. 37n. 

16. De Trobriand's journal (see Quaife, p. 105) noted: "The 
wounded man was taken at once to the hospital, where Dr. Gray 
proceeded to extract the arrows. For one of them especially, 
the operation was difficult, the point having struck the bone of 
the arm and been bent. It had to be performed by an incision. 
Arrows, it is well known, cannot be extracted by the path through 
with which they enter; they must be forced through with the 
barb in advance. The patient being put under the influence of 
chloroform underwent the operation without feeling the pain. 
Nevertheless he has suffered much since. The doctor, however, is 
not without confidence that he will recover without permanent 
disability. He had a narrow escape." 

17. The two arrowheads, owned by the late Charles W. Miller of East 
Setauket, Long Island, New York, were 3-5/8 and 2-15/16 inches 
long and probably made from iron. 

18. Quaife, facing p. 206. 

19. Two common errors appear in this description: first, the prairie 
dog is a rodent, not a dog; second, burrowing owls appropriate 
abandoned burrows rather than sharing occupied prairie dog 
dwellings. See John Sparks and Tony Soper, Owls: Their Natural 
and Unnatural History (1970), p. 57. 
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